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NEXUS PHASE

The joint committee went into private session at 6.33 p.m. Sitting suspended at 7 p.m. and
resumed in public session at 7.30 p.m.

Irish Nationwide Building Society - Mr. John Stanley Purcell

Chairman: With that said, | am now going to call the session back into ... or the inquiry
back into public session. Is that agreed? And to deal with session 3 of today’s hearings with
Mr. John Stanley Purcell, former finance director and secretary of Irish Nationwide Building
Society.

The Committee of Inquiry into the Banking Crisis is now resuming in public session. Can
I ask members and those in the public Gallery to ensure that their mobile devices are switched
oft? Our focus today is on the Irish Nationwide Building Society and we continue our hearings
this evening with Mr. John Stanley Purcell, former finance director and secretary of INBS. Mr.
Purcell joined Irish Nationwide as financial controller in 1986. He was appointed secretary of
INBS in May 1999 and was appointed to the board of INBS in December 1994 as an execu-
tive director. He is now retired. Mr. Purcell, you are very welcome before the committee this
evening.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Thank you, Chairman.

Chairman: Before hearing from the witness, I wish to advise the witness that by virtue of
section 17(2)(/) of the Defamation Act 2009, witnesses are protected by absolute privilege in
respect of their evidence to this committee. If you’re directed by the Chairman to cease giving
evidence in relation to a particular matter and you continue to do so, you are entitled thereafter
only to a qualified privilege in respect of your evidence. You are directed that only evidence
connected with the subject matter of these proceedings is to be given.

I would remind members and those present that there are currently criminal proceedings
ongoing and further criminal proceedings are scheduled during the lifetime of the inquiry which
overlap with the subject matter of the inquiry. Therefore, the utmost caution should be taken
not to prejudice those proceedings. Members of the public are reminded that photography is
prohibited in the committee room. To assist the smooth running of the inquiry, we will display
certain documents on the screens here in the committee room and for those sitting in the Gal-
lery, these documents will be displayed on the screens to your left and right. Members of the
public and journalists are reminded that these documents are confidential and they should not
publish any of the documents that are so displayed.

The witness has been directed to attend this meeting of the Joint Committee of Inquiry into
the Banking Crisis. You have been furnished with booklets of core documents. These are be-
fore the committee and will be relied upon in questioning and form part of the evidence of the
inquiry. So with that said, if I can now invite Mr. Stanley Purcell to take the oath with the clerk
please. Thank you.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Thank you.
The following witness was sworn in by the Clerk to the Committee:

Mr. John Stanley Purcell, former Finance Director and Secretary, Irish Nationwide
Building Society.
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Chairman: Once again, Mr. Purcell, thank you very much for your attendance at the com-
mittee here this evening and apologies for the delay that we are actually starting. And if I can
now invite you to make your opening remarks to the committee, please.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Thank you, Chairman. I wish to begin by thanking the commit-
tee for inviting me to attend to give evidence at the inquiry. I also wanted to express my sincere
regret to everyone who suffered as a result of the demise of INBS.

My role in INBS was very diverse and I was engaged in a wide variety of functions on a
daily basis. Whilst I was heavily involved in reporting, treasury, retail deposits, IT systems and
compliance, I was not involved in the lending function outside my role on the board.

Up to the crisis, INBS was successful. Profits increased year on year and the society grew
accordingly. During the period leading up to the crash, much of the focus of the society and
a huge amount of my time was taken up with demutualisation. The members hoped to gain a
windfall profit from the demutualisation and sale of the society and the board worked extremely
hard to put the apparatus in place for demutualisation. This involved the production, in 2007,
by KPMG of a vendor’s due diligence report which provided a detailed snapshot of INBS at that
time. The report was provided to the Central Bank.

The strategy of the society, including demutualisation, developed over a long period of
time. In terms of lending, as time progressed it became apparent that the residential market
was overly competitive and margins were diminishing. Tracker mortgages, which INBS did
not market, were commonplace. During the years 2004 to 2007, INBS, AIB, Anglo Irish,
Bank of Ireland, Bank of Scotland, EBS, Permanent TSB and Ulster Bank lent heavily in the
commercial-residential sectors. All of the institutions suffered extraordinary losses as a result
of that lending. A combination of the availability of funding, low interest rates, increased com-
petition, Government policy - including tax incentives for development - and rising property
prices caused a surge in lending.

INBS’s strategy was to increase lending in the UK. The UK property market did not col-
lapse in the same way as the Irish market and the London market improved in the aftermath of
the economic crisis. Over 50% of the loan book which transferred to NAMA related to assets
outside Ireland. Consequently, I believe that the INBS assets transferred to NAMA were sig-
nificantly undervalued.

INBS developed a strategy over time which involved lending to clients who had a proven
track record. Towards the end of 2007, it became clear that liquidity was tightening. The board
decided to cease new lending in December 2007 when other institutions continued to lend
anew, and this was the right strategy at that time.

By September 2008, INBS’s liquidity was coming under pressure due to a credit rating
downgrade and an inaccurate report on INBS by Reuters. The regulator arranged, at short
notice, a meeting on Sunday, 7 September 2008 with AIB and BOI to discuss the possibility of
the provision by AIB and BOI of a standby facility for INBS. INBS’s liquidity on 7 September
was about €3.5 billion and information was provided to the meeting at short notice on liquid-
ity, funding liabilities and the maturity of funding liabilities. The meeting concluded without
any agreement to progress the provision of a standby facility. Had the matter progressed, any
additional information required not brought to the “at short notice meeting” would have been
provided.
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Towards the end of 2009, Ernst and Young began an investigation into legacy issues at
INBS. I gave Ernst and Young every assistance required. The investigation ultimately led to
the initiation of legal proceedings against the “old board” for the losses of the society. IBRC
and INBS formally accepted in the pleadings in the proceedings that there was no dishonesty
whatsoever on my part.

The proceedings represented an attempt by IBRC to make the directors personally liable for
the losses of the society. A central plank of the claim was the allegation by the plaintiffs that the
delegation of powers by the board of the society to Michael Fingleton was excessive. On legal
advice, I joined the Central Bank to the proceedings as a third party because they had approved
the delegation of powers to Mr. Fingleton.

Given the extraordinary magnitude of the claim - for up to €6 billion - I entered into a
confidential settlement with the special liquidators after a mediation process. The terms of the
settlement are confidential. I can say that the settlement involved no admission of liability on
my part. I paid a sum personally to the plaintiffs for the benefit of the State.

Separately, the E and Y investigation led to administrative sanctions proceedings being initi-
ated against me by the Central Bank as far back as 2011. A notice of inquiry was issued on 9
July 2015 and I would ask the committee to be cognisant of the fact that I am the subject of that
inquiry, pursuant to which punitive sanctions could be imposed on me by the Central Bank. I
really can’t understand how the Central Bank can purport to investigate me in relation to events
for which they bear responsibility. That is the subject of legal proceedings.

I am not aware of any civil proceedings or any administrative sanctions having been initi-
ated against the management of any other bank or building society as a result of the crash. I
can’t see how there is any benefit to the public in INBS being investigated and pursued on the
double, when institutions which subsist have not been the subject of any serious investigation,
inquiry or proceedings.

I will now address areas I have been asked to consider.

Financial reporting and accounting rules. INBS’s financial reporting system was designed
to meet regulatory and management information needs. The system was developed over the
years to accommodate new accounting standards and additional reporting requirements.

The new accounting standards reduced INBS’s loan loss provisions in 2005, and resulted
in low provisioning while the property market remained strong. In addition, the solvency ratio
was boosted by unrealised surpluses in good economic times and then reduced sharply in the
downturn.

INBS’s business model was commercial and residential property lending to experienced
people in Ireland and the UK. The model evolved over time due to competitive pressures and
lower margins in the residential lending market. INBS’s loan book was concentrated and sig-
nificant amounts of new lending was repeat business with existing customers.

INBS was funded in equal amounts from customer accounts and the wholesale market.
INBS’s treasury function was operated in a risk-averse manner with the emphasis on maintain-
ing safe, readily available liquid assets. The funds raised on the wholesale market extended the
maturity profile of borrowings. INBS sought to eliminate interest rate and exchange rate risk
through swap agreements.
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INBS had sought to enhance the effectiveness of internal audit by recruiting more staff, to-
gether with training and improvements to internal audit systems. KPMG carried out a report on
internal audit in 2005. KPMG also produced a strategic performance review of internal audit in
2008. INBS engaged Deloitte to carry out internal audits on the IT function, treasury and com-
mercial lending. Internal audit had a direct reporting line to the chair of the audit committee.
The internal auditor met non-executive directors without executives being present. Internal
audit had a documented internal audit charter which set out the purpose of internal audit, the
scope of internal audit work, reporting lines, responsibility, standards and authority. Internal
audit had a documented internal audit policies and procedures manual. That, Chairman, con-
cludes my address.

Chairman: Thank you very much, Mr. Purcell, for your opening comments and if I can
commence questioning and in doing so invite Senator Marc MacSharry.

Senator Marc MacSharry: Thanks very much and welcome, Mr. Purcell. Sorry for delay-
ing you earlier. INBS’s annual report for 2007 shows that over the period ‘02 to ‘07, profit be-
fore tax increased by 303% and total assets by 190%. Do you think that these levels of growth
were prudent or sustainable in the context of the level of competition in the Irish lending market
during this period?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, during that period there was a great expansion in lending
in all institutions in the Irish market. Some institutions may well have expanded more than Irish
Nationwide. Irish Nationwide’s expansion in that period was also ... resulted from lending in
the UK, where we lent to experienced people, mainly in the London market. I think at that time,
it was not considered unusual, although it was fairly strong growth.

Senator Marc MacSharry: In your opinion, did this growth... was this growth influenced
by the wish to add value at demutualisation and the potential windfall that that could bring to
members and staff on it?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, we weren’t lending purely because it would increase de-
mutualisation dividend to members. I mean, the lending was done because there was good
lending opportunities to be availed of.

Senator Marc MacSharry: Did this in your opinion lead to levels ... these growth levels?
Did it lead to ... did it affect credit quality and lending standards in any way to your mind?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I had no reason to believe that credit quality was affected and |
think actually, looking at the figures, that our lending in 2007 was slightly less than 2006, our
new lending.

Senator Marc MacSharry: In a letter dated February 2008 regarding the inspection of
commercial property lending exposures, the Financial Regulator “calls into question the ad-
equacy of controls and risk management in place in INBS for large commercial property loans
and suggest[s] that a significant degree of approval authority rests with a single individual, Mr
Fingleton, who also appears to be the only source of information on some of these large clients.”

Chairman: That quotation will be provided in documentation given to you, Mr. Purcell.
Senator?

Senator Marc MacSharry: Sorry, it’s on Vol.1, page 43 and 44 but I’ve quoted it for you
anyway. Could you provide your view on the Financial Regulator’s statement on what I’ve just
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said and did you agree?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Mr. Fingleton was head of lending and Mr. Fingleton spent a lot
of his time working with the senior commercial lenders. He was involved in the lending. He
kept in contact with large clients. He would have seen that as a major part of his function in
Irish Nationwide. I think information was available from sources as well as him.

Senator Marc MacSharry: Was he the one-stop-shop in terms of underwriting and deci-
sion-making?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: No, no, no. There was a department there. There was a head
of commercial lending Ireland. There was a head of commercial lending UK, and there was a
number of underwriters and there was processes in place. I think those processes are set out in
one of the Deloitte reports that you may have.

Senator Marc MacSharry: Do you believe that the degree of approval authority outlined
by the Financial Regulator in that letter was appropriate?

Senator Marc MacSharry: Do you believe ... do you think that the degree of approval
authority outlined in the letter that I quoted was appropriate?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I mean, are you referring to the fact that loans of up to ... over
€1 million came to the board?

Senator Marc MacSharry: No, [ will just quote you that section again. “INBS [this is a
portion of it] INBS ... the adequacy of controls and risk management in place in INBS for large
commercial property loans and suggest that a significant degree of approval authority rests with
a single individual [as opposed to a department or heads of credit, or whatever], Mr. Fingleton,
who [it goes on to say] also appears to be the only source of information on some of these large
clients.” Do you think that degree of approval authority, as I’ve just outlined, is appropriate, or
was appropriate?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, I think the approval authority was in the context of that
loans were underwritten in the department by the commercial lenders and that loans of €1 mil-
lion and more came to the board.

Senator Marc MacSharry: Did loans ever, above €1 million, go to the board and be de-
clined in your time on the board?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: There was loans declined and there was loans sent back that
wouldn’t ... they were sent back because, maybe, they might go ahead some time but they were
sent back for more-----

Senator Marc MacSharry: And without getting into any specific loans, can you recite any
... well, can you recall any occasions where, for example, as managing director or CEO, that
lending was coming with the recommendation of the head of lending, the managing director,
but that the board felt, “No”?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I think there was the odd case, but I can’t-----

Senator Marc MacSharry: The odd-----



JOINT COMMITTEE OF INQUIRY INTO THE BANKING CRISIS

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: There were cases, but I do recall that there would have been a
lot of loans talked about that, you know, who were not brought to the board, for a whole lot of
reasons.

Senator Marc MacSharry: And, occasionally, on the over €1 million scenario, the credit
committee, with the managing ... the head of lending, could take a decision if there was an
urgency to do it for corporate reasons or whatever, and then it would go to the board at the
earliest possibility, Mr. Fingleton was telling us earlier. Can you recall any instances that that
happened? And, in all of the instances where that may have happened, were any of those odd
occasions where the board declined it sent back?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I can’t recall that a loan that was treated in that way was de-
clined by the board, but I do recall occasions where a loan came and there was reasons why it
may have had to be approved prior to it going to the board.

Senator Marc MacSharry: And just again, to the extent that you can remember, where
these exceptional circumstances existed, where something had to be done urgently so that two
members of the credit committee, plus a managing director, took the decision, and then the
board had to be informed, was there always unanimity? Was this a rubber-stamping exercise?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Ah no, no. The loan-----

Senator Marc MacSharry: Or-----

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Sorry, sorry.

Senator Marc MacSharry: Sorry, I don’t want to lead you either.
Mr. John Stanley Purcell: No, no.

Senator Marc MacSharry: Was this a matter of form, the managing director, the head
of lending, lent “X” last week. There was nobody around; it wasn’t quick enough to have a
meeting; so, “Is that agreed? We all agree.” Or, was there anybody who said, “No, like, I don’t
agree, like”?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I don’t recall that happening, but where a loan came like that, it
would discussed in the normal way, along with the reasons why it had to be paid out.

Senator Marc MacSharry: Would it have been better if such circumstances didn’t go, that
there didn’t be an exceptional circumstance?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes, it would have been better. It should-----

Senator Marc MacSharry: It would have been better. Okay. Good. Can I ask, during the
period 2003 to 2006 the society’s loan book trebled from €3.4 billion to €10.7 billion, in your
opinion, was the growth rate prudent and sustainable, particularly in light of the acknowledged
fact, it seems, that the society did not have either “a highly developed approach to risk assess-
ment or a sophisticated management information system”?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well-----
Senator Marc MacSharry: The Project Harmony report, that’s what I’'m quoting there.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes. Yes. Well, what we were doing was, we were doing loans,
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repeat business with people we knew. There had been an increased level of lending. The mar-
ket was fairly active, so we were more or less repeating the same business as we had done all
along.

Senator Marc MacSharry: If you were a good bet in the past with Irish Nationwide, did
you skip the processes of underwriting for future loans?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: No, the loan went through the normal process.
Senator Marc MacSharry: No matter how good you were in the past.
Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes.

Senator Marc MacSharry: So if it took B, as a new customer coming in, three months to
get assessed for X loan, then if I, equally, had been a customer for 20 years and paid back all
my loans and I was coming for another loan, it still took three months.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: It meant the same processes applied.
Senator Marc MacSharry: Okay. The Nyberg report states:

INBS’s overarching driver [and I touched on this earlier with you] was demutualisation
and sale. This was frequently expressed by management, the Board and INBS members and
was expected to result in a cash windfall for all parties. As the value of INBS would dictate
the size of the windfall, it is noteworthy that the bank’s most significant growth spurt was
during the years leading up to the expected demutualisation.

And that’s page 24 of the Nyberg report. In your opinion, did the desire on the part of man-
agement to maximise the value of INBS result in the adoption of poorer lending practices or
more lax lending practices, or did it lead specifically to the growth in the UK?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: No, I don’t think the growth in the UK was a result of trying to
improve the situation after demutualisation. As I said earlier, the level of new loans fell in 2007.

Senator Marc MacSharry: The Project Harmony report states:

The overall approach to risk assessment would not be described as highly developed
given that the group continues to rely heavily on the managing director, does not have so-
phisticated IT systems and operates across a limited range of products. The modus operandi
would be described by management as fit for purpose, particularly given the degree of board
oversight on the lending approval process.

Can you explain why you consider, and if you do, such a modus operandi to be fit for pur-
pose for a financial institution with a balance sheet of €16 billion in size by the end of 2007?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, I mean, we were continually improving our systems as
our loans increased over the years. The ... we were adopting new systems to deal with Basel
and we were also conscious of producing information that would be needed in the event of a
demutualisation. So we were improving systems but the basic loan model was still there.

Senator Marc MacSharry: Earlier we heard from Mr. Walsh, the then chairman ... and
following a KPMG report recommending that a series of improvements needed to be made such
as on the whole area of corporate governance and there were a number of them including the
independence ... to assure the independence of directors and to ensure that the board in terms of
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reference and so on and we put it to him that, “Why had you not, as chairman, introduced these
things much earlier?” I think we were talking about a period now of 2008, if I recall correctly.
He used words like, “Well, you know, corporate governances can be somewhat of a box ticking
exercise and so on.” Can I ask, in your time on the board ... I mean, you know, those recom-
mendations by KPMG at the time, you know, would hardly have been pioneering new ground
in terms of the expectations of how corporate governance would be taken, or how serious it
would be taken by a company with a balance sheet so large. Did you have a sense at the time
that, look, this whole thing is loose; I mean-----

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: No, I didn’t-----

Senator Marc MacSharry: ----- look, everything is going well so-----
Mr. John Stanley Purcell: No, I didn’t have a sense-----

Senator Marc MacSharry: ----- there’s no need to fix anything?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: ----- that everything was loose. But, you know, when those rec-
ommendations were made, [ mean, they were probably setting out best practice, having looked
at a range of reports that it mentions in it. And some of the things they mention about conflicts
of interests, [ mean, we were handling those under terms of the Building Societies Act and our
own rules. So some of the recommendations would involve maybe more documenting of what
we were doing already, say, in areas like conflicts of interest.

Senator Marc MacSharry: Did you ever know about the existence of a No. 3 account that
was specifically for-----

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes.
Senator Marc MacSharry: What was it for?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, it was an account that was there before I started in 1987
and it was an account that the signature on it was my predecessor and then me and the manag-
ing director. And there was also a number of other people who could act as signatories on that
account.

Senator Marc MacSharry: And what was it for?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: It generally was for non-standard payments.

Senator Marc MacSharry: Okay.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: And maybe payments that would ... regarded as confidential.
Senator Marc MacSharry: Political donations?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: No. The main ones I remember, and it would be ... stuff like
maybe settlements in legal disputes.

Senator Marc MacSharry: Okay.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes ... maybe ... sometimes maybe if something came in ... you
know ... you might want to pay it back to somebody and ... it was just stuff that you didn’t run
through the normal system. But everything that was on that account was fully documented.
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There was, I think, in the period from the start of the euro to the time I left there were only about
60 cheques written.

Senator Marc MacSharry: Was it ever ... on those 60 occasions ever to give anybody a
dig out, for want of a better expression?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: No. Some of the payments were just routine stuff, say maybe
came into a wrong account and I was moving it around.

Senator Marc MacSharry: Okay. In a letter dated March 2008, regarding the inspection
of commercial property lending exposures, the Financial Regulator states the following under
the heading “Credit Risk Management”:

The Financial Regulator has raised issues relating to INBS’ risk profile and credit risk
management over a number of years. Our letter of 9 December 2004 set out our concerns
regarding the significant shift in the nature and risk profile of INBS’ business towards com-
mercial property lending.

In the same letter the Financial Regulator continues to outline similar concerns raised in ‘06,
‘07 and ‘08. Can you provide an insight into the INBS board considerations of the Financial
Regulator’s inspections and why no apparent effort was made to address the concerns to the
satisfaction of the regulator of the years?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, when ... well Deputy, when the regulator wrote a letter
or met us about any issue, I mean the matter was taken very seriously. Any letters to, say, the
chairman or the managing director were given to board members and they were discussed at
the board and depending on the issues all the matters were responded to and where we had to
do things, you know, we carried out our response and our rectification of any matter to the best
manner possible.

Senator Marc MacSharry: So, to your mind, any issues raised were dealt with to the full-
est extent. Is that correct?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: We responded fully and-----
Senator Marc MacSharry: Okay. Just two-----
Mr. John Stanley Purcell: ----- dealt with stuff as we could.

Senator Marc MacSharry: Just on that, and two very final questions, and we’ll have cov-
ered all of that ground then, Chairman. You mentioned in your report, and [ am conscious that I
don’t want to get into a particular area and the Chairman will stop me if [ am going offside, you
mentioned that your view as to why other financial institutions weren’t the subject of investiga-
tions in the Central Bank. Can I ask how are you certain that there are no investigations into
other financial institutions?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: As far as I’'m aware there are none.
Senator Marc MacSharry: And how would you be?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, just being cognisant of what’s in the press and stuff like
that.

Senator Marc MacSharry: [ know, but I mean you yourself weren’t cognisant until 9 July
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or thereabouts so how would you be cognisant about other financial institutions?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, the particular matter of 9 July there was something on that
going back, and I think I said it in my statement, back to-----

Senator Marc MacSharry: Okay. So just to be clear, to the best of your knowledge but
you don’t know.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes.

Senator Marc MacSharry: Okay. Very finally, do you feel, and I asked this of Mr. Walsh
as well, do you feel that throughout your career in INBS that there has been an unfair focus by
the regulator and Central Bank on the INBS and its activity?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well throughout my career there, the way I regard it as the
regulator would correspond with us, would meet with us and issues would be raised, and we
would deal with them as best we could. I wouldn’t ... I wasn’t aware of, say, regulator dealings
with other people so [ wouldn’t regard, you know, as being excessively unfair. It was just part
of their job. They dealt with the thing properly and we tried to respond in a professional way.

Senator Marc MacSharry: But you have said in your statement maybe you’re less than
enamoured with activities since.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Oh well that’s since, but in the time I was there, I mean, I said in
my statement there that, [ mean, I ... there was an issue with IBRC, INBS and then-----

Senator Marc MacSharry: Again, without getting into the specifics of Central Bank,
regulator, Government, this inquiry or anybody else, do you have a sense or do you feel a sense,
Mr. Fingleton said he felt wronged, do you feel that in some way INBS are the patsy, the fall
guy for everybody else?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, I suppose INBS and Anglo, as the institutions which no
longer exist, probably resonate with people in regard to the crash.

Senator Marc MacSharry: Do you see that as fair and accurate? 1 am finished then,
Chairman.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I don’t see it fully fair, no.
Senator Marc MacSharry: Thank you.
Chairman: Would you care to expand upon that or is that sufficient?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, I mean, other people had losses as well. I mean there was
a ... yes, it was in the documentation ... there was a NAMA ... a report from NAMA ... an extract
from the NAMA annual report, which showed the discount. The discount on the loans taken
over from Anglo-Irish Nationwide wasn’t all that much difference from, say, AIB and EBS.

Chairman: Okay. Thank you. Senator Michael D’Arcy. Senator.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: Mr. Purcell, you’re welcome. During the period ‘01 to ‘03,
INBS increased its level of commercial lending by over 60%. This was a source of concern
for the regulator that the society did not have the appropriate skill sets or controls to place ... in
place to effectively manage this level of exposure and this level of increase. By September ‘08,
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80% of INBS’s loan book was in commercial property and 81% of its land and exposure was in
speculative property activities. Do you think this was an appropriate lending strategy for INBS
as a building society?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, INBS at that stage, although it was a building society, was
moving towards seeking to have legislation that would allow it demutualise and engage in trade
sale. So, it wasn’t the sort of a situation whereby for years we were always going to be a pure
mutual. We were moving in certain direction. We were in a market that was very competitive.
I think as people have referred earlier, that the home loans market got very competitive in 1999
and it had been competitive before that. Banks, both foreign and domestic, were vying strongly
for residential business. INBS had moved gradually away from dependency on residential so
we were in the commercial market. We had worked with clients over a number years. Many of
those had expanded with the market and we had expanded with them. So, at the time, there was
probably a surge in lending generally anyway from what was before. So, we were a part of that.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: Was it appropriate?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I feel it was not inappropriate in the circumstances.
Senator Michael D’Arcy: It was “not inappropriate”.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, no. It was proper lending.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: And the level of growth ... Mr. Bill Black - I am not sure if you
heard it - when he attended here some months ago said that anything over 20% was dangerous
per annum growth.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes, | heard that mentioned. Yes.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: A lot of institutions were pushing closer to 30%.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes. At the time, generally, it wasn’t felt that that was excessive.
Senator Michael D’Arcy: Did you feel it was excessive?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: No, I didn’t feel it was excessive.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: Were you aware of the risks that were attached to that level of
growth?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes, | was aware that, obviously, the society was growing and
that it involved us in challenges, obviously, in funding the society and the requirements of keep-
ing within certain ratios. So, I was aware of that.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: Did you keep within those ratios?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Generally, we did, yes. Occasionally, there might have been a
slip but-----

Senator Michael D’Arcy: The land and development sectors ratios?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Oh, no. The sectoral ... there was breaches of the sectoral limits
over the years.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: Many?
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Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, I think INBS, and from what I understand a lot ... as well
as other institutions ... that those ratios were exceeded somewhat over a period of time.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: And did you understand that they were not guidelines?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes, and there was correspondence with the Central Bank about
it.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: And you still proceeded to exceed them.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, we had discussions with them about it. I think the discus-
sions were maybe that they might be done on a different basis and that maybe there was some-
thing that should have been revised but the thing just petered out.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: Was that a sufficient way to do business?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, we were probably restricted in keeping to sectoral limits
because those sectoral limits were probably devised for full service banks that would be lending
to all areas of an economy and that would be in every business. By our very nature, we were
focused on property.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: Mr. Purcell, if we could bring up the document, Vol. 1, page
125, the NAMA annual report please? The NAMA discount or the famous or infamous haircut.
INBS, the institution you represented, amounted to 61%, the highest of all institutions. Could
you offer an explanation why INBS was the highest?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well I think we shared the 61% with Anglo. Well, I mean, I
didn’t take part in the work that was engaged in while those loans were being transferred. I
left around that time so I don’t have any insight into the thought processes and why those loans
attracted that discount rate, so I can’t comment on exactly why-----

Senator Michael D’Arcy: Were you ... were you surprised at the discount, the extent of it?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I was. I was surprised and I felt that, as I said there, that the UK
loans were somewhat undervalued. And I felt that maybe from, you know, things I heard later
and that, a lot of those loans were repaid in full, despite a large discount.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: Mr. Purcell, KPMG’s annual statutory duty confirmation letters
to the Financial Regulator for each of the years ‘04, ‘05, ‘06 and ‘07 note instances of breaches
and errors in each sectoral return, prudential returns and large exposure reports made by INBS
to the regulator. Why did these breaches and errors occur?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, when we were preparing those reports, I mean, we took
every care to make sure there was no errors. Generally, they were prepared by a competent per-
son, reviewed by another and subject to further review. We were conscious that we were at all
times trying to do everything perfectly as regards regulatory returns and we were disappointed
whenever any error occurred. Now some of the errors were larger, some of them were smaller.
But the errors occurred because we’d a fairly tight timetable. After we had done the returns we
continued checking and a lot of that checking would have brought up something that was not
found earlier, and we would immediately adjust the return and we would inform the regulator of
every mistake, every adjustment, every error, be it large or small. Some of the errors occurred
due to mistakes, maybe a coding error in loans which we copped when we did further check-
ing. Some of them were ... there was a lot of volume, maybe, happening and something slipped
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through or else there was some classification that wasn’t clear and that we maybe went to the
regulator or the regulator went to us about it. But we did take every precaution to ensure that
they were done to the highest standard, and it was disappointing for me and the people working
with me who were doing those returns that errors occurred. But it wasn’t for the want of effort,
changing systems and reviews.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: Mr. Purcell, those errors occurred, re-occurred, over a number
of years.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: They did. I, that is correct, Deputy, they did and as I said, I was
very disappointed at the time. And I think there is a mention there in the ... I think it’s either
2.6, item 2.6 in the KPMG management letter of 2008, where there is a response to the fact that
those errors occurred.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: And were the systems just incapable of rectifying the matter?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: No, we changed systems. We brought in additional checking.
All T can say is that some errors kept ... persisted. But some of those errors were small; some
of them were caught by us but we reported every error, be it large or small, immediately, and I
think KPMG acknowledge that in the letter.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: In the 2005 report, the review of effectiveness of internal audit,
KPMG stated the existing internal audit ... this is Vol. 2, page 93, Chair:

The existing internal audit function is not [the] best practice. ... In particular it lacks the
depth of experience necessary to challenge the areas of key risk, which includes Treasury
and Commercial Lending.

In the 2008 management letter, KPMG stated, “the Society’s Internal Audit department
needs to build up its experience and training in order to perform reviews of key risk areas which
are currently outsourced to a third party service provider”.

Similar concerns were raised in ‘04, with the Financial Regulator concluding:

The level of resources in this area are deemed to be inadequate ... The FSR has concerns
with regard to the level of expertise and experience which exists in the A function.

The Financial Regulator concerns expressed in ‘07 echo this sentiment. Can you explain
why no apparent effort was made to address the concerns raised by both your auditors and the
Financial Regulator over a period ... over a number of years?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: In 2004 we arranged with KPMG to commission a report on the
effectiveness of our internal audit. We were conscious that work had to be done. We had a new
acting internal auditor and we were conscious that we needed to review that area, and we asked
KPMG to produce a report and to work with us. And KPMG produced that report. As a result
of it, there was ... they were involved in mentoring the internal auditor. They also conducted
workshops with the internal audit committee and the ... we would have increased the staffing
level, we would’ve increased training internal audit and we would’ve purchased systems for
them. In addition to that, we brought in Deloitte to do a number of audits there - treasury, IT
and commercial lending. So we were working, during that time, to bring internal audit to a
higher level.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: Chairman, if you could go to Vol. 1, page 31. I'll just move on,
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Mr. Purcell. In KPMG’s corporate governance review in ‘08 it states:

Board packs are very detailed and at times lack clarity and structure. For example, there
is little market and operational overview and salient financial commentary provided.

Were you satisfied, as a member of the board of INBS, you were receiving a full and accu-
rate picture of the financial situation of the society at all times?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, there was a detailed set of accounts provided to every
board meeting and, generally, when the accounts were considered by the directors, I would be
asked for comments on them. Sometimes I was able to maybe put a paper in about something
beforehand but generally I gave a verbal report on the accounts. There was a lot of informa-
tion provided to the board and the board pack grew over the years because what would happen
is somebody would say, “Well, you know, I want a report on something” ... “Well, you know,
do it every quarter, do it every month.” So there was a sort of a growth in it that people were
used to. They didn’t ... sometimes didn’t want me to excise reports, you know, they wanted it
left there and maybe, after a while, there was a lot of stuff there. But the board members were
able to work through it, and probably it was a good recommendation at the time that the thing
be looked at again.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: As the commercial lending business, in particular, grew, were
the levels of impairment and the changes in accounting rules clearly articulated to the board, to
fully appreciate the risk?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: The levels of impairment were, yes. Sorry, is this the new rules
as well?

Senator Michael D’Arcy: Yes, IFRS.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes. The introduction of IFRS, I think it was around 2005, it
resulted in us writing back. I think we had a bad debts provision of about €100 million and
under those rules we had to write much ... much of that back.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: Mr. Purcell, the INBS section of the Nyberg report, did you read
that?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I did.
Senator Michael D’Arcy: Were you surprised at the content of that?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, I can’t say. I mean, I read it, kind of, a while back and ...
I see what was said there, yes.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: Did you agree with it?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Probably not with everything. But he probably made some
points, yes.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: In the main, did you agree with it? Was it accurate of the institu-
tion that you served in?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I thought, you know, I thought it was a bit hard on certain areas.
I thought, maybe, you know, it regarded our lending in a poorer light than actually was the case.
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Senator Michael D’Arcy: Mr. Purcell, if you could just clarify a matter. Have you seen or
heard Mr. Fingleton’s and Mr. Walsh’s evidence earlier today?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I’ve heard some of it - not all of it but I heard some of it.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: If I could just clarify, please, because I put both ... this question
to both gentlemen earlier today. I am speaking in relation to the change of lending policy in De-
cember ‘07 where the board previously had approval of €1 million-plus loans and subsequent
to that the board no longer had approval of it, that it went to the board ... the commercial loan
applications ... the board no longer required consent. You are aware of that?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: Mr. Fingleton certainly seemed to indicate that was a board mat-
ter and Mr. Walsh indicated that it came from the executive. Could I ask you your understand-
ing of whether it came from the board or from the executive?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I think at that time the question of having the credit committee
approve loans and that the loans then would be notified to the board ... It was discussed at the
board and, I mean, it was a board decision to do it that way and I think the proposal came from
... it probably came from myself. You know, this is my best recollection. I was discussing the
matter with the internal auditor and I think we concluded that the way Irish Nationwide was
doing it wasn’t the way everyone else was doing it and that maybe ... it was time, maybe, to
change the system. And it was a good time to do it because we weren’t lending anew, we were
trying to cut back on lending. If there was lending, it ... there wouldn’t be much; it would be in
relation to maybe stuff already committed and that it would be done on low volumes and that
maybe it was moving towards the practice that was used in other institutions.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: Could you clarify then, Mr. Purcell, was it a decision by the
executive, accepted by the board?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, it was a proposal by the executive, I’d put it that way, that
would have been brought to the board and would have been discussed and agreed. There was
probably a good bit of discussion about it.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: Was Mr. Fingleton in agreement with that prior to it going to
the board?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: At this stage I mean, I would regard it, maybe ... After a lot of
discussion, it was a unanimous decision but ... that’s my best recollection

Senator Michael D’Arcy: And again, to conclude, Mr. Purcell, please, the relaxation in
the lending criteria, was that appropriate given the Financial Regulator’s ongoing concerns in
relation to commercial property lending and the risk management within the society?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, in relation to having the credit committee approve loans,
I think it was appropriate because the board would still be notified of the loans, we would still
review them ... especially, you know, for a long while after we would look at them. It was also
at a time where lending was decreasing and we were moving towards, maybe, a practice that
was more normal with other banks.

Senator Michael D’Arcy: Thank you.
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Chairman: Thank you very much. Okay. I now invite Deputy Kieran O’Donnell. Deputy.

Deputy Kieran O’Donnell: Thanks, Chairman. Welcome, it being such a late hour, Mr.
Purcell. Mr. Purcell, can I just clarify a number of points? Mr. Fingleton occupied the role as
both CEO and head of lending. Am I correct?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: That’s correct.

Deputy Kieran O’Donnell: A dual role. Would every single loan be ... end up on Mr.
Fingleton’s desk?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I wouldn’t think so, no. No, not every loan would end up on his
desk at all. No, loans would be dealt with by the department. They would probably wind up on
the desk of the head of commercial lending or people who worked with him.

Deputy Kieran O’Donnell: When would they ... What would be the level at which loans
would end up on Mr. Fingleton’s desk?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Now, I think he would have been in contact with the commercial
lenders. I don’t know when ... I think ... if there was loans that they felt he had an input in, they
may well have-----

Deputy Kieran O’Donnell: And you made reference earlier that 50% of the loans that
went into NAMA were outside of Ireland.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes, I think so. Yes.
Deputy Kieran O’Donnell: How many of those would have been with Irish developers?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: There would have been an amount with Irish developers in

Deputy Kieran O’Donnell: The majority?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I wouldn’t say ... I'd say a good lot but not the majority. They
would be ... the developers that we ... the Irish developers that we dealt with in London, there
would be people that we were dealing with for a long time. Some of them were probably more
versed in London than Dublin so they would have been at home in both markets.

Deputy Kieran O’Donnell: And can I ask you, in your role as financial controller of Irish
Nationwide Building Society, do you believe on the night of the guarantee that Irish Nationwide
Building Society was solvent?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes, I do.

Deputy Kieran O’Donnell: And what do you base your assessment on that, considering
that €5.4 billion of taxpayers’ money ended up, to date, going into Irish Nationwide Building
Society?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I believe ... and probably my belief was borne out by subsequent
events ... | mean, we had a very detailed audit at the end of 2008 on the accounts. We also ...
we had a solvency certificate which involved a good bit of work, both legal and by accoun-
tancy. The review of impaired loans in early 2009 was extensive. It involved the provisioning
committee a lot of time ... a lot of meetings. KPMG spent a lot of time with it. I think it even
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delayed the production of our accounts, there was so much work done on the area.

Deputy Kieran O’Donnell: Is your basic contention, along with the two previous wit-
nesses from Irish Nationwide Building Society, Mr. Fingleton and Mr. Walsh, that the haircut
that was applied to the NAMA loans, you believe was excessive?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I believe it was excessive. To the extent of its excessiveness, |
mean [’m ... you know, I don’t have-----

Deputy Kieran O’Donnell: And what do you believe the discount should have been? It
was 61%. What do you feel would’ve been a reasonable discount?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I find it hard to give a figure, but I feel that the ... especially
loans in London ... a lot of those loans turned out to actually pay back the full amount.

Deputy Kieran O’Donnell: And can you just elaborate on ... were you facing a funding
cliff in 2009? You had roughly about €2.3 billion, my understanding is, of debt to be rolled
over in 2009.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: That’s correct. I think there was ... there was a figure of that
nature, yes.

Deputy Kieran O’Donnell: And effectively, I think, €1 billion of that was due in May “09.
How were you set up to deal with that funding cliff?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, in 2008 we had reduced our loan book considerably. We
had raised a lot of money on ... from retail deposits. We had brought in a mortgage-backed
promissory note programme. We were working on its securitisation. And, in September, even
though things were very fraught, there was an increase in the deposit guarantee amount around
20 September. So we were looking at the credit crunch probably would persist for a while, but
people’s perspective wasn’t that it would go for as long and as deep. So we expected that we
would be able to return to the markets in 2009.

Deputy Kieran O’Donnell: And did ... so do you believe ... well, first of all, two quick
questions. Do you believe that Irish Nationwide Building Society needed the blanket guarantee
to be covered by it? And do you believe if that guarantee wasn’t there ... do you believe ... and
NAMA wasn’t put in place ... do you believe Irish Nationwide would be operating today?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: It’s very hard to be definitive about that, but what I would say
is that it would depend on how the world markets ... how the money markets went after Sep-
tember; it would depend on whether the credit crunch ameliorated; it would depend on a whole
load of factors. But where we were at the end of September was we did have a good amount of
liquidity. We had probably over €3 billion. When the deposit protection scheme was increased,
it did reduce outflows. I mean I think that’s mentioned in some reports as well. So it was hard
to know what way things were going. I mean, things could’ve turned well in October. Things
could have-----

Deputy Kieran O’Donnell: But you were looking for fair weather.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, yes, we were looking for a situation whereby there would
be an increase in stability and there would be less worry and less turbulence in the market.

Deputy Kieran O’Donnell: You weren’t, as such, set up for a ... for shocks.
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Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, we were ... | mean, if the-----
Chairman: ----- making a statement.
Deputy Kieran O’Donnell: Sorry, were you set up for shocks?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: We were set up that we could, let’s say, exist for a while longer
in ... in a very fraught market. If the market returned to a more stable situation, we felt we could
maybe raise money on the wholesale again.

Deputy Kieran O’Donnell: Okay. Thank you, Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you very much, Deputy O’Donnell. Deputy Michael McGrath.
Deputy Michael McGrath: Thank you very much, Chair. Good evening, Mr. Purcell.
Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Good evening, Deputy.

Deputy Michael McGrath: Can I start by asking you ... that following the delegation of
authority to the credit committee in December 2007 ... as you know, internal audit carried out
two reviews of the operation of the credit committee and the evidence is in the core booklets,
Vol. 2. One review in July 2008 covering the period of January to June ‘08 and the second in
January ‘09 covering the period July to December 2008. And the internal audit’s findings note
that the frequency of meetings declined as the year went on to the point where, in the opinion
of internal audit, the credit committee is not meeting with enough frequency to fulfil all of its
duties. Can you comment on that? Is that just a function of the reduction in lending activity at
that time or is it indicative of a weakness in the systems at INBS?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, a factor would have been the reduction in lending activ-
ity, yes, because our new lending was curtailed very significantly after December 2007 so that
would have been a function, so-----

Deputy Michael McGrath: So is the primary reason that they didn’t really have a purpose
to meet?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I would reckon there was less business and they weren’t meet-
ing as often.

Deputy Michael McGrath: Okay. And is it your view that the credit committee was
functioning properly during that key period throughout 2008 and was ... or was it indicative of
further weaknesses?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, as far as | was aware, it was functioning correctly but I
mean [’m cognisant that certain recommendations were made by internal audit.

Deputy Michael McGrath: Okay, can I take you Mr. Purcell to the meeting on 7 Septem-
ber 2008 with the regulator, which you say was organised at short notice and you reference it in
page 3 of your witness statement? Can you confirm who attended that meeting? I take it that
AIB and Bank of Ireland were represented.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes.

Deputy Michael McGrath: And were you accompanied on behalf of INBS?
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Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I was at that meeting along with our treasurer and our financial
controller.

Deputy Michael McGrath: Okay, and the meeting was organised by the Financial Regula-
tor?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes, I got a phone call, I think I got it from our chairman, late
on Friday ... or late on Saturday night-----

Deputy Michael McGrath: Okay.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: ----- to say they would be meeting probably sometime 11 or 12
o’clock on Sunday and that we would be meeting AIB and Bank of Ireland and I think it was to
discuss the question of them providing us with a standby facility.

Deputy Michael McGrath: And this was on foot of the report carried by Reuters?
Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, it was -----
Deputy Michael McGrath: Is that what raised concerns?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes, I think the Central Bank were acting in the light of that
report and they were looking at the idea that maybe Bank of Ireland and AIB could provide us
with a standby facility.

Deputy Michael McGrath: Okay, can you just inform the committee the nature of that
Reuters report at the time? What did it say?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, the Reuters report in essence said that INBS was making
accommodation with its creditors, which wasn’t true. In other words-----

Deputy Michael McGrath: How did you interpret that? What did that mean, “making
accommodation”?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: It meant that we would be ... we were talking to people who
fund us asking them to come to some arrangement of some nature.

Deputy Michael McGrath: And it was untrue?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: It was totally untrue, and Reuters admitted it later.

Deputy Michael McGrath: And did you ever discover the provenance of that report?
Mr. John Stanley Purcell: No.

Deputy Michael McGrath: Okay, and so was the underlying purpose of the meeting on 7
September not valid?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, I mean the fact that-----
Deputy Michael McGrath: Or were there funding pressures facing INBS as well?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: The Reuters report was utterly unhelpful. I mean, it created a
sense of unease and it was going to result in withdrawals so I mean, the regulator was taking
precautions and one of the precautions was to see could a standby facility be arranged.
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Deputy Michael McGrath: A liquidity support from the Bank of Ireland.
Mr. John Stanley Purcell: A backstop as they call it.

Deputy Michael McGrath: Okay, and did AIB and Bank of Ireland indicate a willingness
to provide such a backup at that meeting? I know no decision was reached but-----

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: No, they didn’t indicate a willingness.
Deputy Michael McGrath: Is it because it didn’t get that far?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, we had a discussion. I can’t remember all the details, but
there was three of us there and the meeting just petered out.

Deputy Michael McGrath: Okay, and you weren’t asked to provide any further documen-
tation or anything like that?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: No.

Deputy Michael McGrath: Can I ask, Mr. Purcell ... this issue of demutualisation has
come up several times today and the expected change in the legislation and this seemed to be
the whole strategy really for INBS was to prepare it for demutualisation and a trade sale but,
financially, what would that have meant for executives and for directors of INBS? Were there
bonus arrangements in place in the event of it happening or was it members were going to ben-
efit? How ... what would the financial implications have been?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: The financial implications ... sorry, Deputy, the financial im-
plications is that there would be a windfall for members; in other words, their shares would be
bought by whoever bought us and that they would receive an amount of money, just in the same
way as people in Irish Permanent did in the early ‘90s and somewhat later in First National. So
the members and the borrowing members would have received an amount of money.

Deputy Michael McGrath: What would directors have stood to ... to gain?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: There was nothing agreed that directors would gain anything in
particular.

Deputy Michael McGrath: But it could have formed part of the commercial arrangement
with a trade buyer.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: It could. It could have. It would depend on a number of factors.

Deputy Michael McGrath: And likely would have. I would imagine that it likely would
have formed some aspect of a commercial arrangement if one was entered into.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: It would have been discussed and probably would have, yes.

Deputy Michael McGrath: So there may have been a financial incentive in place or the
prospect of one. It wasn’t nailed down but there may have been the prospect of one if a suc-
cessful demutualisation and trade sale of INBS had ... had been executed.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes, there was a prospect that it would benefit staff, as I think it
might have also done in the other demutualisations.

Deputy Michael McGrath: Okay. You were also company secretary. What role did that
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involve? What specific responsibilities did you have, as secretary, which were additional to
your role as finance director?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I was responsible for-----
Deputy Michael McGrath: Returns.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: For returns, yes. There was a lot of returns to be done under the
Building Societies Act on an ongoing basis.

Deputy Michael McGrath: Okay and were you a member of any other ... any internal
committees within the building society?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I was a member of the assets and liabilities committee.
Deputy Michael McGrath: What did that do?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, the main focus of the assets and liabilities committee was
the liquidity position of the society, its funding and its managing the mix and the maturities of
borrowings raised, and also dealing with stuff like hedge effectiveness, interest rate risk, cur-
rency risk - all issues to do with the funding and the liquidity position.

Deputy Michael McGrath: Okay, and finally-----

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: We also looked at things that were there as well, like the share-
deposit ratio. That was something always on our agenda.

Deputy Michael McGrath: Finally, Mr. Purcell, and given the length of time you spent at
INBS, you’re probably best placed to answer this question. In your view, looking back now, did
Michael Fingleton have excessive influence and control over the operation of INBS?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, Michael Fingleton was a very focused managing director.
He worked extremely hard. He was very interested in demutualisation. He was very keen to
sell the society. He felt that was the best outcome for the society. He also was very involved
in the lending and he was very ... he had ... he was very knowledgeable about lending. It was
mentioned earlier about economic reports at board. He would be very familiar with the posi-
tion as regards the economy, the lending market. He was ... he was a strong, focused managing
director.

Deputy Michael McGrath: But from a governance point of view, do you believe that he
had too much influence and control over the organisation?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: His control was subject to the board and he consulted with the
board and at every board meeting he made reports on his activities.

Deputy Michael McGrath: Okay, thank you.
Chairman: Thank you, Deputy McGrath. Senator Susan O’Keeffe.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: Thanks, Chair. Mr. Purcell, in the Project Harmony report, it
would show that the society had a concentration of loans in the higher risk development sector,
a concentration of loans in the higher loan-to-value bands, a concentration in its customer base -
the top 30 commercial customers, for example, accounted for 53% of the total commercial loan
book - and a concentration in sources of supplemental arrangement fees, representing 48% of
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profit in 2006. Indeed, 73% of those fees came from just nine customers. Did the board ever
consider or did they become concerned or did they discuss those levels of concentrations and
the correlation between them and whether or not they could increase the risk to the society’s
business model?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: The board were aware of the concentration. The large expo-
sures report would be produced and it would be a board document. The board were also aware
of the nature of our business, that we, Irish Nationwide, had repeat business with experienced
developers. During my time there the board would have met some of the borrowers and the
board was sort of satisfied with the people we were dealing with and the business we were deal-
ing with.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: So, in saying that you were satisfied, therefore you were saying
you were not concerned. Is that correct?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: We always, you know, monitoring stuff.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: Sorry, concerned as in-----

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes.
Senator Susan O’Keeffe: ----rather than-----

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: No, we weren’t concerned at that level. We felt the business
was good.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: You felt the business was good and that the model was-----

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: The model was working, yes. It was a good model to go into
demutualisation with, as described in ... in Harmony.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: The Ernst and Young investigation suggests that Michael Fin-
gleton was given special powers in 1981, and again renewed in 1994 and again in 1997, that
allowed him and him alone to set and alter interest rates and fees if he so pleased and to make
arrangements with individuals. Is that correct to your knowledge, given the time that you were
there?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes, those powers were used by him in a practical way. He
would have used them, maybe if, let’s say we were under pressure and we might lose a loan,
he would maybe make a decision that we would have to maybe reduce a rate. He would make
other decisions in relation to loan matters.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: So he did have those powers. Is it at all the case that he ever
used those powers in a less than practical way? In a way that was not, [ am not suggesting for
personal gain, I am talking about, you know, for ... to do a favour for someone, to be good to
somebody?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: No, I am not aware of any instances of that.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: You are not aware. Is it also the case that the reporting structure
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was such that there were 12 people reporting to Mr. Fingleton as the boss, rather than a more
pyramid structure where, as you go up, you have fewer people at the top? Is that correct?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I can’t remember whether it was the number - there was a num-
ber of people reporting to him. It is set out in the organisation chart in the Project Harmony
document.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: Can you clarify why a lot of savings would have been tied up
in term deposits in Isle of Man accounts? Would that be normal procedure? I refer here to the
fact that, at a time when the society was under a lot of pressure coming in to September 2008,
savers would have had to break their terms in order to withdraw if they were concerned about
the state. Why was the Isle of Man used in that way?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, the Isle of Man was ... would market products that would
appeal to the people that they felt would put deposits with us and term deposits were a product
that was successful for the Isle of Man. People, say for example, were interested in putting a
deposit with you for a year because they got a rate they felt was happy - they were happy with.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: So INBS would manage that on ... if I was coming to you, you
would manage that for me in the Isle of Man. Is that-----

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: The Isle of Man, mainly, role was basically source sterling de-
posits.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: Okay. And so how much ... would there have been considerable
business in that?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I think the numbers are maybe just between €1 billion and €2
billion.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: And were you the only building society offering that particular?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, there was a lot of competition in the Isle of Man. I mean-

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: Sure.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I think Irish Permanent had an operation there and at one stage
the EBS had an operation there and there was all the ... a number of the Irish banks were there
and there also would have been all of the English institutions there.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: And that was all perfectly within the ... Going back to Mr.
Boucher in relation to the meeting and I know that you said it was difficult to recall all of the
detail, he said in his own evidence, he said:

There was a discussion between ourselves and AIB, there was some commentary from
the regulator that they felt, well, the haircut on Irish Nationwide’s books would be, I don’t
know, a mid-teens per cent. Whether I had a justification to say it, but I do recollect I said,
“Well, whatever they say, it’s two or three times that.”

And then he goes on to say:

I felt we should get out of the building. I said, “We can’t support these people.
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So, do you recall that at all?
Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I don’t recall about-----
Senator Susan O’Keeffe: Or knowing about that?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, I was there at the meeting. I don’t recall that particular
comment. [ don’t... I am not sure was he referring to loans or was he referring to something
else? It looked like he was referring to loans.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: He says also that there had been an “exercise” he describes it,
back in 2006 - he can’t remember the exact date - where options were being considered for Irish
Nationwide, and he says:

[We sat down with the] chief executive of Irish Nationwide and his company secretary
to discuss their business model to get an outline of the type of lending they did ... I got an
understanding of what I felt the business model was. I went back to the chief executive and
said I didn’t feel ... there was an opportunity for us and I didn’t recommend we pursue it.

Is that ... do you have a memory of that meeting in 2006?
Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I do have a memory of it.
Senator Susan O’Keeffe: What happened there? Why was there a meeting?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, I mean, there were a number of institutions we were talk-
ing to at the time, with a view that perhaps they may well be interested in buying Irish Nation-
wide and Bank of Ireland — that indicates — was one of those institutions.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: And did they write back to you after that meeting and say, “Well
actually we don’t think you’re a suitable fit”, or did it just end after that meeting? Do you re-
call?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I don’t recollect a letter, Deputy, but I know it didn’t progress.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: Okay, and did you at that time talk to Allied Irish Banks in the
same manner that you did with Bank?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I don’t think discussions were as developed or as, you know,
they didn’t, weren’t at that level with AIB.

Chairman: One minute there Senator.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: Yes. Documents that we have seen that obviously we can’t — for
33AK — sort of state precisely what they were, but they show that there was a long-standing dif-
ficulty between the INBS and the Financial Regulator, going back to even before the separation
of the way they were set up in 2003 and 2004. Given that you were there all that time, would
you say that, would you use that expression “long-standing difficulty” to describe or would you
have a dispute with that description?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: There was-----
Senator Susan O’Keeffe: I can give the reference if required, Chair.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I mean, there was communications with the regulator, [FSRA,
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the Central Bank, you know, over a period of time but in all our dealings with them they were
dealt with on an open basis.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: Sure, no I am not implying that but the suggestion here is that
there was always a difficulty, that the regulator always had a struggle to get INBS to respond,
to come back, to talk to them, to give the responses that they require to give, the information
that they require to get changes through. That’s the evidence here in these documents, so what
is your own view given that you were on the board? And we have seen documentation, which I
am sure you have been given in the evidence books, that would also show a long-standing dif-
ficult, long-standing exchange.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: There’s a long-standing exchange but when they wrote to us
and when they raised any matter, I mean, my approach and our approach was to deal with it as
properly and as promptly as possible.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: And you felt you did.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I felt I did. Sometimes issues took longer. Sometimes it took
a while to come back on something because you were trying to put something in place or you
were trying to get information or you were trying to go through it with somebody.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: [ have just one last question, Chair, and that relates ... and again [
am going here now if I may, Mr. Purcell, to the time of the guarantee and to your medium-term
note programme, and to the payments that you would have had to make on these. I am referring
here to a document actually from Brendan McDonagh to William Beausang and it talks about
repayments that you would have to make of €630 million at the end of November and then on
into 2009 there would be another €1.5 billion payable, and I'm just wondering how did that
arise that those, that there was so much to be repaid?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well those-----
Senator Susan O’Keeffe: And again, I can give you the reference, Chair.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Those repayments would have arisen as a result of the deals
we did a number of years before. Say, for example, we would have raised money, generally in
lumps, and at different maturities, so some years you might have a small amount, a relatively
small amount, and other you might have chunkier amounts.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: But was that a difficulty for INBS at that time? Was that now
becoming a much more, you know, looming problem than it might have been previously?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, I mean, every year we had EMTN repayments.
Senator Susan O’Keeffe: Yes.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I mean, in 2007 I recollect we had one in February 2008, and
we had one later in 2008 at least.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: Yes.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: In 2009 we had more. The funding and the repayment of those
would depend on the state of the markets. It would depend on whether we could raise funds.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: So if the markets were poor, you were struggling.
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Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, yes, that would have always applied, yes.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: Of course. Thank you.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Unless you could raise money elsewhere through retail-----
Senator Susan O’Keeffe: And you were struggling to do that.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, in September there was a lot of issues with a lot of institu-
tions as regards funding.

Senator Susan O’Keeffe: And raising funds wasn’t-----
Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Raising funds was obviously-----
Senator Susan O’Keeffe: Thank you. Thank you, Chair.
Chairman: Deputy Joe Higgins.

Deputy Joe Higgins: First, if [ can allude again to the meeting on 7 September 2008, and
Mr. Boucher, in one of his statements to this investigation, stated the purpose of the meeting
was to discuss potential liquidity support for Irish Nationwide. Now, leaving the Reuters issue
aside, Mr. Purcell, why was there such concern in many quarters about the viability of INBS or
the need for liquidity support because both Mr. Fingleton and Mr. Walsh in their opening state-
ments stressed that INBS had sufficient liquidity at that time?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes, at that time we had between €3.5 billion and €4 billion in
liquid assets and our liquid assets were liquid. I mean, they were readily available. They were
short-term deposits with large European banks. However, the initiative as regards the stand-
by: it came from the Financial Regulator and the Financial Regulator came up with the idea,
probably in the light of the threat to liquidity and the threat of maybe increased withdrawals as
a result of the Reuters report.

Deputy Joe Higgins: But were there concerns before that, Mr. Purcell? Because, for ex-
ample, the Department of Finance had secretly or quietly put on the stocks legislation for the
nationalisation of an institution like yours.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: [ wasn’t aware ... [ heard that, yes, earlier in ... from the inquiry.
Well, I mean, there was - how would I put it - there was a lot of concern probably in the sum-
mer of 2008.

Deputy Joe Higgins: Can I go over again the question of whether INBS was solvent in
September 2008? And if I could refer to the Goldman Sachs report that was done into INBS.
This is in documentation that has been many times in front of the committee but we have it up
in front of us there, Mr. Purcell. And if you see that line of the total loan book, €11.7 billion,
and then their mark-to-market analysis going from 69 ... best mark 69% of the loan book to the
worst mark 42%, which equates to €8.1 billion or €4.7 billion worst. Quite clearly on those
figures, INBS was not solvent.

And if I might then refer to a similar diagram from Merrill Lynch, presentation to the Na-
tional Treasury Management Agency, 26 September 2008, and then on the right ... top right-
hand side, Mr. Purcell, you’ll see their summary is INBS has €11.7 billion of loans, “Write-
downs of 30% — 60% results in an impairment of €3.6 bn — €7 bn”. In other words, figures
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remarkably similar to Goldman Sachs’. And then the very next line is the liquidity of €3 billion
to the end of 2008. On that basis, INBS is not solvent. Now how can you square these figures,
plus the concerns that emerged about the liquidity, as opposed to what Mr. Fingleton and Mr.
Walsh have assured us?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, this scenario I’'m looking at here is Merrill Lynch setting
out a scenario of what possibly would happen. You know, they would be setting out best case,
worst case, medium cases. At that time all options and all eventualities were being explored. It
was people looking at what might happen.

Deputy Joe Higgins: Were you concerned ... were you worried at that time that INBS was
insolvent, or not?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I wasn’t worried that INBS was insolvent at that stage. The
main concern at that stage was liquidity and the ability to raise funds.

Deputy Joe Higgins: Okay. Thank you, Mr. Purcell.
Chairman: Thank you very much. We’ll move on so to Deputy Pearse Doherty, please.

Deputy Pearse Doherty: Yes. The Financial Regulator sent a letter in December 2004
noting its ongoing concerns with the level of resources at senior and executive management
level within Nationwide. These concerns were repeated in a further letter in March 2008. Can
you explain why the regulator’s concerns were not addressed and no apparent effort was made
to strengthen the board of the senior management to the satisfaction of the regulator over the
period stretching at least six years?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, in relation to some of the concerns raised in 2004 in re-
lation to senior management, there were ... it was mentioned there that there had been people
recruited. There was ... and I think it was also dealt with by Michael Walsh and Michael Fingle-
ton, there was a difficulty in recruiting extra non-executive directors around that time. They
have mentioned that a number of people were approached and the situation that INBS was go-
ing to demutualise and sell, it meant we were not a very attractive ... as [ understand.

Deputy Pearse Doherty: In view of the concerns over resources levels in senior manage-
ment, why did the building society continue to expand its loan book - and this is the years that it
dramatically expanded its loan book and, in particular, its commercial lending throughout that
period - given the resource level in terms of senior management?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: INBS, you know, continued doing the sort of business it felt it
had a capacity to do. It felt it was doing good business with experienced people, much of it
repeat business and, as a background to that, we were recruiting people in relation to aspects of
loan. We set up around that time a credit risk department. We were preparing the loan book for
the mutualisation, for Basel 11, and for credit grading a number of things. So we were working
in areas that needed attention.

Deputy Pearse Doherty: In your opening statement, you mention in page 3, you say “By
September 2008 INBS’s liquidity was coming under pressure due to [...] credit rating down-
grade and an inaccurate report [...] by Reuters.” Mr. Purcell, did your bank have access to ECB
funding in September 2008?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: In ... during 2008, we raised funds by a mortgage ... a mortgage-
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backed promissory note programme.
Deputy Pearse Doherty: From the ECB?
Mr. John Stanley Purcell: No, it was raised in banks.
Deputy Pearse Doherty: Yes, but the question is, I’'m not asking you about that.
Mr. John Stanley Purcell: No, I know. You asked me about-----
Deputy Pearse Doherty: The question is-----
Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I will just come to that-----
Deputy Pearse Doherty: ----- did you have access to ECB funding?
Mr. John Stanley Purcell: We had ... We were working on a securitisation.
Deputy Pearse Doherty: Did you have access to ECB funding?
Mr. John Stanley Purcell: No, we didn’t have access at that stage.

Deputy Pearse Doherty: Okay. Did you have access to funding from the money markets?
Did you have access to the European medium-term notes at this time?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: No, the ... around September 2008, the markets were not acces-

Deputy Pearse Doherty: Okay.
Mr. John Stanley Purcell: ----- probably to us and ... not to us and to others.

Deputy Pearse Doherty: Well, you were shut out from the markets and shut out from the
ECB at that stage. When did Nationwide ... when were Nationwide shut out from the money
markets?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, probably, I mean, I can’t get an exact date on it, but prob-
ably some ... in ... in 2008, as the credit crunch-----

Deputy Pearse Doherty: We’ve seen details, or I’ve seen details, that suggest that it would
have been in the first quarter of 2008. Would that be in line with your view?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: It possibly could be, you know. In early 2008, we were raising
a lot of money on retail funding-----

Deputy Pearse Doherty: Okay. Given the fact-----

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: ----- and we were raising ... we were reducing our book at the
same time.

Deputy Pearse Doherty: Okay. Given the fact that you were shut out to the money mar-
kets from about September or, sorry, from about March 2008 ‘til this period I’m talking about
now, in September, and you mentioned that liquidity was a serious problem, you know that in
the next 12 months, in 2009, there was about €4.8 billion of a roll-over on the markets. How
were you going to cope?
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Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well we, like a lot of other institutions, were faced with a credit
crunch. It was difficult for others also to raise money on the money markets. I mean, the credit
crunch had started in 2007, and was getting worse. There was very little lending. In 2008, we
were trying to reduce our loan book and we have ... we had reduced our loan book by a lot.
We were still raising retail funding and the market was in a stage where people were optimistic
maybe it would improve next year.

Deputy Pearse Doherty: You were the only Irish bank that were shut out from the money
markets and the ECB at that time, just for the record.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: 1, I, yes, I don’t know that, but, I mean, I, yes.

Deputy Pearse Doherty: Do you believe that that might have been what prompted the
Government to start preparing legislation to nationalise the building society around that period?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I can’t say. I can’t say, Deputy-----
Deputy Pearse Doherty: Okay.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: ----- but, I mean, we were, we were still raising money and we,
we still had a lot of liquidity in September.

Deputy Pearse Doherty: Okay but, yes, that was the major risk and the Financial Regula-
tor understood ... accepted that as well. Can I ask ... you mentioned in your statement that you
were also involved in IT systems and development of IT systems and this is an area that came
under criticism from the internal audit report, I believe. There is mention in terms of the IT
systems. Can you just clarify this for once and for all? Did the CEO of Nationwide have access
to a computer in his office? Did he run a €16 billion business without access to a computer?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I mean, I think there was ... he definitely had access to a com-
puter. His secretary would have a computer and he would have access through that. I'm not ...
can’t ... he ... he probably had one on his desk as well.

Deputy Pearse Doherty: But, like, I’'m thinking ... I’'m sure you’ve been in with like his
office on many occasions. It’s usually .... one of the most notable things you will see on any-
body’s desk is a computer. But in terms of a bank, and you’re looking at the reports, and you’re
looking at all of the stuff, obviously, you’re looking at it on a screen. Was there ... you know,
you were, sorry, you were the person in charge with the IT systems in the institution. Did the
CEO have access to a computer in his personal office?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I’'m not sure. I don’t think he did, but he had access to one, and
his secretary would have one, but he also operated in terms that reports were brought to him.
In other words, he wouldn’t be focusing on trying to figure things on a screen. There would be
regular reports.

Deputy Pearse Doherty: We’re not talking about a corner shop here.

Chairman: Deputy, just let me in there for one second. Was there any device on Mr. Fingle-
ton’s desk?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I can’t recollect whether he had a computer or not, at what stage.
Chairman: Any electrical device?
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Mr. John Stanley Purcell: But I would say, Deputy and Chairman, that he was well in-
formed of everything in relation to the areas he was looking after.

Chairman: Okay, back to yourself, Deputy Doherty.

Deputy Pearse Doherty: The point I’'m making is, in terms of the systems - and this may
seem a bit trivial and all that but I actually think it’s not. Right - in terms of the systems, be-
cause you mention you were in charge-----

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes.
Deputy Pearse Doherty: ----- of IT systems.
Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, the IT. Now-----

Deputy Pearse Doherty: We’re not talking, as I was saying, about the wee corner shop,
you know, that’s selling a couple of loaves of bread and a couple of pints of milk at the week-
end. Itis a €16 billion enterprise, where Mr. Fingleton ... report after report is saying - we know
he was the chief lender - but report after report is how he was heavily involved in all aspects of
the bank. Can you explain to me, as somebody who was responsible for the systems, how the
CEO didn’t have access to a computer, given in banking everything is computerised, is it not,
or were you still running around with post-it notes and paper clips and reports?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I mean, he had access to a computer. I mean, if he didn’t use a
computer a lot himself, he had access if he wanted to, to use a computer. You know, there was,
he could sit down with somebody and go through stuff on computer.

Deputy Pearse Doherty: Mr. Purcell, what do you say to those who accuse you of being
Mr. Fingleton’s “Yes” man?

Chairman: Wrap up, Deputy.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I don’t agree.

Deputy Pearse Doherty: You don’t agree. In your view-----
Chairman: Last question.

Deputy Pearse Doherty: ----- and in your knowledge, from being there, from being secre-
tary, from being chief financial officer, was ... had ... did Mr. Fingleton ever sanction a loan or
ask somebody to provide a loan to an individual without it first going through the credit com-
mittee approval process or the board?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I’'m not aware. I don’t recollect a loan in that case.

Deputy Pearse Doherty: Are you aware, as we’ve seen in the Deloitte report, an internal
report, where loan applications were actually made after loans were advanced to the customers?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: In Deloitte internal audit reports, that is what you’re referring
to?

Deputy Pearse Doherty: Yes.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes, I mean, there were findings of that regard and they were
followed up.
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Chairman: ------ wrap it up actually.

Deputy Pearse Doherty: Could I just ask this because you sat on the board? So one of the
findings was, in Deloitte, that Mr. Fingleton was the individual who extended Stg£10 million
of a loan on his own say, nobody else, and this was also backed up in terms of the independent
internal review.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes.

Deputy Pearse Doherty: When those findings were made, did the board investigate these
findings and clarify whether that was the case or not, or did you just say, “That was a nice read
and let’s move on to the next item on the agenda”?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: No, no, no.
Chairman: Right, Deputy.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: It would have been explained to the board and action would
have been taken so that-----

Deputy Pearse Doherty: What explanation did you receive?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I can’t recollect the explanation on that but I know it would have
been dealt with.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Purcell, I’'m going to bring matters to a conclusion. I just have
a couple of questions myself to ask and I just need to wrap up, and I’ll also be inviting yourself
to make any closing comments or remarks that you might wish to make.

Mr. Purcell, this was, kind of, touched upon earlier. I just need to get a bit further clarifi-
cation on it. What was the limit of the MD’s authority to issue loans? What was the sum of
money? What was the lending limit?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, the lending limit, there was a lending limit of stuff, of
€635,000, that could be dealt with-----

Chairman: Okay.
Mr. John Stanley Purcell: ----- in the loans department without coming to the board.

Chairman: Okay. With an earlier question there that I put to Mr. Walsh when he was in
earlier - and I can pull up the document again - I think that figure of €635,000 you mention
seems to ring a familiarity with ... that the sum should have been £0.5 million but ... the ... in a
report by the regulator, there was actually a comment about a sum of that size. So was that sum
actually beyond the scope? Is that the same sum that’s being discussed?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes, I think this figure of 600 and ... it was ... actually, it repre-
sented the old £500,000.

Chairman: Okay. So it is the £500,000 instead of €600,000. All right. So once it went
beyond the old £500,000 - £0.5 million - he would then need board approval, yes?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes.

Chairman: Okay. Did he ever issue loan cheques to borrowers and later seek board ap-
162



JOINT COMMITTEE OF INQUIRY INTO THE BANKING CRISIS

proval retrospectively?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: There may well have been some of those - I can’t recollect an
example.

Chairman: Are you aware of any cases?
Mr. John Stanley Purcell: No, I can’t recollect any particular case at the moment.

Chairman: Okay. Did the board reject loans which were submitted to it by the credit com-
mittee?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: It did.

Chairman: Okay. Can you ... maybe without getting into the specifics of customer transac-
tions and customer confidentiality, could you maybe give us a general example?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I can’t think of any particular examples. I know there was cases
of that and also there would have been cases of loans, kind of, sent back. You know, maybe the
board wanted more work done on them.

Chairman: So, in that regard-----

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: They mightn’t have been rejected out of hand, a lot of them, but
they would’ve been put back into the system.

Chairman: So, are you also saying that there were situations so where the board seek ... or
sought additional information from the credit committee before approving loans?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Yes.
Chairman: Okay.
Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Or the approval was subject to things being done.

Chairman: To the suggestion ... to maybe just to get your own comment and opinion on ...
to the suggestion that credit committees can be rubber stamps and ... was there ever ... that never
would ... that never go against management ... a managing director’s decisions to grant loans?
Would that be a fair or unfair description of the credit committee in INBS?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, I was not a member of the credit committee.
Chairman: Okay. But by your own observations?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: No. By my own observations, that ... you know, the loans were
underwritten in a proper way.

Chairman: Okay. And at a board level, did anyone on the board every challenge the overall
lending strategy? In particular, did anybody on the board ever challenge the practice of taking
equity stakes in developments in exchange for 100% funding?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, in December 2007 the board deliberated and made a deci-
sion that we were going to cease new lending, but that was-----

Chairman: Okay. That’s not what I am asking you, though.
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Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Sorry.

Chairman: There was a particular model that was being operated by Irish Nationwide
Building Society. Usually, if somebody went into a bank, they’d get a loan-to-value of 80%,
20%, 60% or whatever, and they would have to come up with some cash themselves. Irish
Nationwide, if I’'m correct, and you can correct me if ’'m wrong, operated on a basis that they
gave 100% funding but on the basis that they would get a proportion or a profitability on what
they were giving the loan on. It’s that lending model that I am talking about. Did anybody on
the board ever challenge that practice of taking equity stakes in developments in exchange for
100% funding?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Not that I am aware.
Chairman: Okay. On a review of that lending practice, how would you consider that now?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, probably, in today’s terms it wouldn’t be regarded as
maybe interim lending-----

Chairman: Okay.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: ----- but back then it was based on the fact that we were dealing
with experienced people. It was repeat business. We were dealing with people who had been
very successful in the past and knew their business.

Chairman: In terms of a recommendation to this committee going into the future, how
would you view such a practice?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well I ... in my statement, there, [ was asked what regulators
might do to ensure that lending markets didn’t overheat in future and I said maybe there should
be loan-to-deposit ratios applied, perhaps maybe a balance between residential and commercial
lending and that’s ... those, sort of ... loan-to-values as well, which the Central Bank have ap-
plied.

Chairman: In ... I concluded with a question to Mr. Walsh earlier, Mr. Purcell, and I’d put
the same question to you. And that is, Mr. Purcell, that this inquiry, in preparing for the public
hearings, gathered hundreds of thousands of documents. For today’s hearing regarding INBS,
documents from the Financial Regulator’s office consistently and repetitively over many years
expressed concerns regarding corporate governance, senior management resources, lending ex-
pertise appropriate to your business strategy, direction of the society’s overall business model
and the associated control framework, issues on the regulatory reporting and control - and, I
think, in your own engagement this evening, which, as you admit, were a source of continuing
disappointment to you - and also the lack of experience in the quality of internal audited re-
sources. Having listened to your contribution this evening, Mr. Purcell, is it your opinion, as we
come to close these proceedings, that these documents are consistently and repetitively wrong?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Those documents express the concern of the Financial Regula-
tor over years. They brought up concerns following inspections and, in all cases, we worked to
resolve the issues. For example, we worked to upgrade internal audit in all aspects of its opera-
tion. So, when you look at them all together there is a long list there, but they came up over a
number of years and we would have worked to resolve each one as well as we could at the time.
And many of them resulted in systems and processes being upgraded to a good standard. Some
of them about recruiting directors, there was reasons why it was delayed and for other reasons.
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Chairman: You have a far, far greater experience of banking than I have, Mr. Purcell, and I
would acknowledge that right from the get-go both in terms of experience, time in the job and
all the rest of it. And you may or may not observe things better than I would just in terms of
general detail, but ... and I am sure, maybe I’'m wrong, that you would have maybe observed
some of the testimony of the different financial institutions here to date. In quantitative terms
in regard to just the volume of correspondence that came from the regulator’s office to financial
institutions in this country, where would you rank Irish Nationwide Building Society?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I don’t know. I wouldn’t have knowledge of what other banks
had in dealings with the regulator, but I do know - I recollect it came up - a remark was made
to one of our non-executive directors that the dealings that the regulator/Central Bank had with
us were just normal issues.

Chairman: That would be your-----
Mr. John Stanley Purcell: That was an observation that was made to-----
Chairman: Yes, but what’s your observation?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Well, my observation was that I don’t know whether other insti-
tutions had more or less than we did.

Chairman: Okay. Is there anything else you’d like to add by means of final comment, Mr.
Purcell?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: No, thank you, Chairman, except to thank the members-----
Chairman: Okay, with that said, I’d like to bring matters to-----

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: ----- and I hope I was of assistance.

Chairman: Sorry?

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: I just want to thank the members and hope I was of assistance.

Chairman: Okay, thank you. So, with that said, I would like to bring matters to a conclu-
sion and thank Mr. Purcell for his participation this evening, and for his engagement with the
inquiry, and to now formally excuse you. In doing so, I would just like to suspend for a moment
to deal with just one point of information before we close this evening and as we prepare for our
hearings tomorrow morning. Is that agreed? Agreed.

Mr. John Stanley Purcell: Thank you, Chairman.

The joint committee went into private session at 9.08 p.m. and adjourned at 9.10 p.m. until
9 a.m. on Thursday, 3 September 2015.
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